

Castle House Great North Road Newark NG24 1BY

Tel: 01636 650000 www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk

Wednesday, 6 June 2018

Chairman: Councillor Mrs R Crowe Vice-Chairman: Councillor I Walker

Members of the Committee:

Councillor Mrs K Arnold Councillor Mrs B Brooks Councillor Mrs I Brown Councillor D Clarke Councillor M Cope Councillor P Duncan Councillor Mrs S Michael Councillor D Payne
Councillor Mrs S Saddington
Councillor Mrs S Soar
Councillor Mrs L Tift
Councillor B Wells
Councillor Mrs Y Woodhead

MEETING: General Purposes Commitee

DATE: Thursday, 14 June 2018 at 6.00 pm

VENUE: Castle House, Great North Road, Newark,

Notts. NG24 1BY

You are hereby requested to attend the above Meeting to be held at the time/place and on the date mentioned above for the purpose of transacting the business on the Agenda as overleaf.

If you have any queries please contact Helen Brandham on helen.brandham@newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk.

<u>AGENDA</u>

1.	Apologies for Absence	Page Nos.		
2.	Declarations of Interests from Members and Officers			
3.	Declaration of any Intention to Record the Meeting			
4.	Minutes of the Previous Meeting	3 - 7		
PART 1	- ITEMS FOR DECISION			
5.	Hackney Carriage Fare Review	8 - 10		
6.	Review of Statement of Gambling Policy	11 - 48		
PART 2 - ITEMS FOR INFORMATION				
PART 3	- STATISTICAL AND PERFORMANCE REVIEW ITEMS			
7.	Update on Performance and Enforcement Matters	49 - 51		
PART 4	- EXEMPT AND CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS			
8.	Exclusion of the Press and Public			
	To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 3 of part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.			
9.	Minutes of Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers Sub-Committee	52 - 55		
10.	Minutes of Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Drivers Sub-Committee	56 - 57		

Agenda Item 4

NEWARK AND SHERWOOD DISTRICT COUNCIL

Minutes of the **GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE** held on Thursday, 15 March 2018 in the Civic Suite, Castle House, Great North Road, Newark at 6.00pm.

PRESENT: Councillor Mrs R. Crowe (Chairman)

Councillor I. Walker (Vice - Chairman)

Councillors: Mrs K. Arnold, Mrs B.M. Brooks, Mrs I. Brown, D.

Clarke, M.G. Cope, D.R. Payne, Mrs S.E. Saddington,

Mrs S. Soar, K. Walker and B. Wells.

28. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were submitted by Councillors: Mrs S.M. Michael and Mrs A.A. Truswell

29. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST BY MEMBERS AND OFFICERS

NOTED: that no Member or Officer declared any interest pursuant to any statutory

requirement in any matter discussed or voted upon at the meeting.

30. <u>DECLARATION OF INTENTION TO RECORD MEETING</u>

NOTED: that an audio recording was to be made of the meeting by the Council.

31. MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON 23 NOVEMBER 2017

AGREED (unanimously) that the Minutes of the meeting held on 23 November 2017

be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

32. REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE & PRIVATE HIRE LICENSING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

The Committee considered the report presented by the Business Manager – Environmental Health & Licensing which sought to update Members on the completion of the consultation process on a revised Policy for Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing.

The report set out that the last full review of the Policy had taken place in 2012 and that the current review had taken account of changes introduced by the Deregulation Act 2015, changes in best practice, changes previously agreed by Committee and had attempted to provide a more comprehensive guidance to applicants. It was noted that the draft Policy had been agreed by Members over a year ago but its introduction had been delayed to await the outcome of the Coroner's case into a taxi driving incident and changes to the taxi drivers' licensing process brought in by the Immigration Act. There had also been subsequent changes to the Equalities Act that had required small changes to the Policy. A summary of the main changes and the consultation undertaken were reported together with the proposed amendments.

In considering the report a Member commented that he had concerns in relation to some of the offences listed within the Policy as Major and Minor Traffic Offences. He stated that CD10 – Driving Without Due Care and Attention was listed as a major offence yet CU10 – Using a Vehicle with Defective Brakes, MS10 – Leaving a Vehicle in a Dangerous Position and TS30 – Failing to Comply with a "Stop" Sign were considered to be Minor Offences. He suggested that the Policy be amended to permit a margin of discretion for Members and Officers when considering an application rather than strictly adhering to the Policy as written. In response, the Business Manager advised that, as was the case now, if it was felt that there was a good reason for not adhering to the Policy then this was within the discretion of the Members.

A Member raised a query in relation to drivers who were registered within another local authority and whether they would be subject to the Policy. The Business Manager advised that drivers or vehicles licensed by another local authority would not be bound by the Policy as only the issuing authority could take action for any breach.

As a general comment a Member of the Committee referred to recent cases in the press of sexual grooming of young persons by taxi drivers and what, if any, reporting mechanisms were in place to inform Members if there were any concerns about drivers within the district. The Business Manager advised that the Council's relevant policies had been updated following the revelations and findings from the subsequent reviews into child sexual exploitation and that there was a Corporate Safeguarding Group. He added that there was no specific reporting mechanism for the General Purposes Committee but that any concerns would be raised with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman thereof. Members agreed that the matter be referred to the Councillors Commission for consideration and that they be recommended to establish a protocol to include who would be responsible for ensuring that the relevant Members and Committees were informed should any issue arise.

AGREED (unanimously) that:

- (a) the comments received from the consultation exercise on the Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy be noted;
- (b) subject to any changes identified, the draft Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licensing Policy and Guidance be adopted; and
- (c) a report be presented to the Councillors' Commission to consider a protocol for informing Members about any safeguarding concerns and/or issues (including ones relating to child sexual exploitation) that may arise in their local area or the District generally.

33. JOINT ENFORCEMENT PROTOCOL

The Committee considered the report presented by the Business Manager – Environmental Health & Licensing which sought to update Members on the progress of the Joint Enforcement Protocol relating to taxis and for the formal adoption of the protocol.

The report set out the current laws surrounding the enforcement, by Authorised Officers, against vehicles or drivers licensed by that authority. Following discussions held with other Licensing Authorities in the county a draft Joint Enforcement Protocol was produced that would allow authorised Licensing Officers to take enforcement action against any driver or vehicle from an authority that had a reciprocal arrangement under the Protocol.

In relation to issues previously reported about HC/PH drivers operating in the district but licensed by Wolverhampton City Council, the Business Manager advised that the Licensing Manager from Nottingham City Council met regularly with Officers from Wolverhampton who were due to visit Nottingham. The Business Manager stated that he would request that they also visit the Newark & Sherwood district.

AGREED (unanimously) that:

- (a) the Joint Enforcement Protocol relating to Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Enforcement, subject to the following, be formally adopted:
 - (i) the enforcement powers of the Council under sections 53(3), 68 and 73 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 shall be discharged by the Councils listed in the Schedule below pursuant to the provisions of section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, such enforcement powers only to be exercised in respect of [Rushcliffe] licensed vehicles and drivers whilst operating within the boundary of the respective council and only to be exercised by the respective Council's authorised officers; and
 - (ii) the Business Manager Environmental Health & Licensing be authorised to add to the Councils listed in the Schedule where considered expedient, subject to agreeing reciprocal arrangements with the relevant Council and subject to consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of General Purposes Committee; and
 - (iii) the Council agrees to accept a similar transfer of functions from any Council listed in the Schedule below.

Schedule

Ashfield District Council Broxtowe Borough Council Bassetlaw District Council Gedling Borough Council Mansfield District Council Nottingham City Council Rushcliffe Borough Council

34. REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY

The Committee considered the report presented by the Business Manager – Environmental Health & Licensing which sought the Committee's approval of the timetable associated with the review of the Council's Statement of Gambling Policy which the Council is required to review every three years under the Gambling Act 2005.

The report set out the responsibilities of the Council, as Licensing Authority, under the Gambling Act 2005 and that it was responsible for issuing licenses for premises on which gambling was carried out and not for operators or individuals concerned in carrying out a gambling business.

As noted in the report, the Act states that the Policy be reviewed as required and at least every three years with the current Policy being adopted in January 2016. A timetable for the review and consultation process was set out in paragraph 2.5 of the report together with a list of suggested consultees.

Specifically in relation to the list of suggested consultees, it was noted that there was reference to Licensing Solicitors. A Member of the Committee stated that this reference should be deleted and replaced by reference to the three local Law Societies, namely: Nottingham, Lincoln and Derby.

AGREED (unanimously) that:

- (a) the timetable for the review and consultation exercise for the Statement of Gambling Policy be approved; and,
- (b) the list of consultees be approved, subject to the deletion of reference to Licensing Solicitors and inclusion of the three local Law Societies, namely: Nottingham, Lincoln and Derby.

35. UPDATE ON PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS

The Committee considered the report presented by the Licensing Manager in relation to the activity and performance of the Licensing Team with details of current ongoing enforcement issues.

Information contained in the report relating to the number of applications for grants and renewals of licences for Hackney Carriage; Private Hire; and Ambulance Drivers together with those for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Vehicles. A note of ongoing enforcement activity was also listed with information as to what action had been taken to-date.

Also provided within the report was information relating to both street and house to house collections. Members were in agreement that the House to House Collection by Arthritis Research UK percentage returned to the Charity was very poor at only 12.92% and that they should not be issued with a licence in the future as per the Council's policy of requiring that 80% of the collection must be returned to the Charity in question. It was noted that much of the £9,010.24 collected had been used to offset the running costs of their shop premises.

In relation to the Street Collection by the Newark & District Round Table, Officers advised that they had been reminded that their return detailing the amount collected, the percentage donated to the Charity, the overhead costs involved etc. remained outstanding. Members suggested that they be informed that failure to supply the information may impact on any future applications for a street collection licence.

AGREED (unanimously) that the report be noted.

36. EXCLUSION OF PRESS & PUBLIC

AGREED (unanimously) that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting during discussion of the following item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

37. MINUTES OF THE HACKNEY CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER'S SUB-COMMITTEES

NOTED the confidential minutes of the Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver's Sub-Committees held on 14 February 2018.

The meeting closed at 6.43pm

Chairman

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 14 JUNE 2018

HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARE REVIEW

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 For Members to consider the approach to undertaking a review of Hackney Carriage fares.

2.0 Introduction

- 2.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 permits a District Council to fix the fares applicable to Hackney Carriages. The last review of fares was undertaken in 2012 where it was decided that no change to the fares was required.
- 2.2 The current fare charging policy states:

Tax Meter and Fare to be Demanded

While acting as a driver of a hackney carriage and plying for hire within the District the driver shall charge and cause to be paid the fare calculated at the rate set out in the table of fares displayed in the vehicle and determined from time to time by the Council.

2.3 The setting of taxi fares is a complex process as the fare itself is normally a combination of four elements. These elements are flag fall, tariff, distance travelled and waiting time.

Flag fall – this is the name given to the part of the fare that is the fixed initial start fee that is charged.

Tariff Rate – this is a distance or time based charge. These tariffs can be set to be the same over the whole distance of any journey or can be set so as to become increase or decrease as the journey progresses. The tariff rate is also set for any waiting time.

- 2.4 Both of the above are set by the local authority. Additional charges (normally based on a multiplication of the basic tariff) are charged based on the time of day or day of the week.
- 2.5 The current Hackney Carriage Fares for Newark and Sherwood are set out in Appendix One.
- 2.6 As members will see these fares mean very little to the general public as they are not in a format that allows for an easy calculation of the likely cost of a journey, nor do they allow for comparison across different Council areas.
- 2.7 In order for these comparisons to be made spread sheets are used to calculate the fare for various lengths of journeys and these can be compared to national and regional values.
- 2.8 The trade magazine Private Hire and Taxi Monthly produces comparisons of charges for the country. The table below shows a comparison of fares for a 2 mile distances at tariff 1.

Flag Fall/Distance	Area	Cost
Two Mile Fare T1	National Average	£5.83
	Gedling	£5.50
	Newark and Sherwood	£5.40
	Bassetlaw	£5.90
	Mansfield	£4.80
	Nottingham	£5.60
	Highest in Country Watford	£8.40
	Lowest in Country South Kesteven	£3.80

- 1.9 Increases to the taxi fares for Newark & Sherwood were last made in 2008. Each year informal consultation takes place with the operators to seek their views. This process has taken place again this year and the pattern emerging is that a price increase is now overdue. There are some drivers that feel the night time rate (which is currently a 1.5 multiple of the daytime rate) should be cheaper, or at least increased at a lesser rate. There is also a suggestion that any increase should be directed at the flag drop and not the distance tariff so that the basic starting price is increased.
- 1.10 Some authorities have started to apply a simple calculator for their review of prices. To reflect increases in prices the Retail Price Index or Consumer Price Index is used and applied to the existing tariffs. As of February 2012 the CPI was 3.4% and the RPI was 3.7%. Clearly this rate is calculated using other products not necessarily related to the motor/taxi trade and therefore may not reflect the current inflation pressures on the taxi trade. However, it does have the benefit of being a nationally produced figure that is used to calculate annual increases in various sectors of business.

2.0 Points for Consideration

- 2.2 Do Members have any views on whether the fares should be set so as to favour short or long journeys? This could be achieved by changing the balance between the flag drop and the tariff for distance.
- 2.3 Would Members like to see any change to the multiplier used to calculate the rates for evenings, Sundays and public holidays? The table below illustrates the effect that the multiplier has on the T2 tariff.

Local Authority	T1 Two Miles	T2 Two Miles	% Increase for Night fares
Newark and	£5.40	£8.10	50%
Sherwood			

3.0 Proposals

3.1 It is proposed to undertake informal consultation with a range of taxi companies and individual drivers to ascertain their opinions on how the fares are currently calculated and the impact of the tariff 2 and 3 multiplier.

3.2 On completion of these informal consultations it is proposed to distil the finding down to a small number of fare review options and then to undertake a ballot of all drivers as to which method they would like to see introduced.

4.0 **RECOMMENDATION**

Members are asked to consider the details relating to the fare reviews of Hackney Carriage fares and support the proposals for carrying out the fare review.

Background Papers

Nil

For further information please contact Alan Batty on 01636 655467

Karen White Director - Safety

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 14 JUNE 2018

REVIEW OF STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY

1.0 Purpose of Report

1.1 To seek the Committee's approval to revise the Council's Statement of Gambling Policy and to begin the consultation process

2.0 Background

- 2.1 The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council to have in place a Policy relating to the carrying out of its functions under that Act. In respect of carrying out its duties the Council is required to adopt and have in place a Statement of Gambling Policy relating to those duties. The Policy sets out the principles which the Council will apply in considering and granting licences under the Act
- 2.2 The Act requires the policy to be reviewed every five years. The current policy was adopted in January 2013 and therefore needs to be reviewed before January 2019.

3.0 Introduction

- 3.1 There has been no fundamental changes to legislation that would require wholesale amendments the draft Statement of Gambling Policy. The Council is also required to formulate its Policy with reference to guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. This guidance has been amended and the draft Policy reflects these changes.
- 3.2 In order to achieve a level of consistency across the County the Nottinghamshire Authorities have been working together on a joint format for the Statement. Members will appreciate that the Councils across the County are different and therefore it is not always possible to have identical documents, however, wherever possible attempts have been made to apply consistent phraseology.
- 3.3 A copy of the 2019 draft Statement of Gambling Policy is attached as **Appendix One**. A large font has been used to identify where changes are proposed.
- 3.4 There have been no fundamental changes to any of the Policies previously agreed.
- 3.5 Any comments that the Members of the Committee wish to make before the Policy is sent out for consultation can be included in the proposed revision.

4.0 Proposals

4.1 It is proposed to undertake and extensive consultation exercise by directing organisations to the Council's website where a copy of the draft Policy will be posted. Printed copies will be available on request. It is proposed that the consultation period will last for a 10 weeks.

4.0 **RECOMMENDATION**

That the Committee notes that the requirement that the Gambling Policy be reviewed and provides any additional comments that it would like to see in the draft Policy.

Background Papers

Nil

For further information please contact Alan Batty on 01636 6554675467

Karen White Director – Safety



Newark & Sherwood District Council

Statement of Gambling Policy 2019 - 2021



STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY Gambling Act 2005

(Published XXXXXXXX)

Preface

Under the Gambling Act 2005, a new regime for regulating gambling and betting was introduced throughout the United Kingdom from 1 September 2007. Apart from the National Lottery and spread betting, gambling and betting will be regulated by the Gambling Commission, whose duties include licensing the operators and individuals involved in providing gambling and betting facilities.

Newark and Sherwood District Council, along with other local licensing authorities, has a duty under the Act to license premises where gambling is to take place, and to licence other activities (such as registering small society lotteries). This document sets out how we intend to approach this task.

.

CONTENTS

SECTION ONE: INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE	1
Introduction	1
■ <u>Declaration</u>	2
Consultation	2
■ Local Area Profile	2
 Authorised Activities 	4
 Relationship with Other Legislation 	4
"Demand" for Gaming Premises	5
 Rights of Applicants and Third Parties 	5
 Data Sharing, Data Security and the Principles of Better Regulation 	5
Equality	5
SECTION TWO: LOCAL RISK ASSESSMENTS	6
SECTION THREE: MAKING REPRESENTATIONS	7
■ Who Can Make a Representation?	7
Interested PartiesPolicy One	7
Form and Content of RepresentationPolicy Two	8 9
■ Irrelevant Considerations	10
Reviews	11
SECTION FOUR: LICENSING OBJECTIVES	12
 Preventing Gambling From Being a Source of Crime and Disorder Policy Three 	12 13
Ensuring Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way	13

•	Protection of Children - Access to Licensed Premises	14
•	Vulnerable Persons	15
SECTIO	ON FIVE: PREMISES LICENCES	16
•	General Principles	16
•	Betting Premises and Tracks	16
•	General Matters Relevant to Tracks	17
•	Gaming Machines Used on Tracks	18
•	Betting Premises in Relation to Tracks	18
•	Betting Machines on Tracks	19
•	Condition on Rules Being Displayed on Tracks	19
•	Applications and Plans for Tracks	19
•	Adult Gaming Centres	20
•	Club Gaming Permits and Club Machine Permits	20
•	Alcohol Licensed Premises	21
•	Family Entertainment Centres	21
•	Prize Gaming Permits	22
•	Travelling Fairs	23
•	Small Society Lotteries	23
•	Temporary Use Notices	23
•	Occasional Use Notices	23
•	Casinos	23
•	Bingo	24
•	Provisional staements	
SECTION SIX: INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT 26		

General State	ement	26
InspectionsPolice	cy Four	26 26
Enforcement		26
Glossary of Terms		28
<u>Appendices</u>		
Appendix One -	List of Bodies and Organisations Consulted	29

1. INTRODUCTION AND SCOPE

Introduction

- 1.1 Section 349(1) of the Gambling Act 2005 ["the Act"] imposes a statutory requirement upon Newark & Sherwood District Council as the statutory Licensing Authority ["the Authority"] to prepare a Statement of Principles ["the Statement"] and to review it from time to time and every three years.
- 1.2 The Act sets out three licensing objectives which this Statement will promote. The three objectives are as follows:
 - Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime;
 - Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; and
 - Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling.

In exercising their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, Licensing Authorities must have regard to the three licensing objectives.

- 1.3 The aim of the Authority in this Statement is to address the impact of licensed premises in terms of crime and disorder arising from gambling and to ensure that their location and internal layout are appropriate with a view to protecting children and vulnerable persons. The Authority is committed to partnership with all stakeholders with a view to the promotion of this aim. The Authority recognises the impact that unregulated gambling may have on its community and sustainability as a viable local economy and in delivering the gambling regime will, with regard to the principles set out in this Statement, seek to support its local economy and protect vulnerable people. In doing so it will consider each application on its own merits within the context of this Statement, the legislation and guidance and codes of practice issued by the Gambling Commission.
- 1.4 The Authority will, in the statutory discharge of its functions have particular regard to the principles to be applied in exercising its powers:
 - under Section 157 of the Act to designate in writing a body competent to advise the Authority about the protection of children from harm;
 - under Section 158 of the Act to determine whether a person is an interested party in relation to a premises licence or in relation to an application for or in respect of a premises licence.
- 1.5 Subject to statutory provision, a review of this Statement will take place periodically and any revisions to the Statement will be made taking into account information collated over a period of time; the outcomes of related initiatives at central and local government level and following appropriate consultation.

1.6 Nothing in this Statement should be regarded or interpreted as any indication that any statutory requirement of gambling or other law is to be overridden.

Declaration

- 1.7 The Authority in preparation of this Statement have had due regard to;
 - the Gambling Act 2005;
 - the Gambling Act 2005 (Licensing Authority Policy Statement) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006;
 - guidance issued by the Gambling Commission and by the Secretary of State under Section 25 of the Act; and
 - responses from those consulted on the Statement.

Consultation

- 1.8 The Gambling Act requires the licensing Authority to consult the following on the Licensing Authority Statement of Policy or any subsequent revision:
 - in England and Wales, the chief officer of police for the Authority's area
 - one or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Authority's area
 - one or more persons who appear to the Authority to represent the interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Authority's functions under this Act.

In developing this Statement the Authority has consulted widely to ascertain an appropriate licensing framework for its area. A full list of consultees is shown in appendix 1.

Local Area Profile

1.9 The District of Newark and Sherwood covers 65,000 hectares and is bordered by Lincolnshire to the east, Bassetlaw to the north, Mansfield to the west and Rushcliffe/Nottingham to the south. It is a predominantly rural district and is served by its three main towns of Newark, Southwell and Ollerton with an overall population of around 105,800. As well as having a strong agricultural base, the area also has a range of engineering, food, drink and tourism industries, increasingly coupled with office-based customer services. The District is easily accessible from the A1 which runs through Newark and has direct road links to and from the City of Nottingham. Public transport in the town is good and there is ample parking. Trains are readily available from its two stations — Newark Castle (Lincoln to Nottingham line), and Newark Northgate (electrified east coast line to London Kings Cross). The nearest airport is Nottingham East Midlands Airport to the south near Castle Donington whilst Robin Hood Airport is north at Finningley, and can be reached via the A1.

A local area profile has been prepared based on local knowledge and taking into account a wide range of factors, data and information held by the licensing authority and its partners. It

is anticipated that the local area profile will give operators and a belter awareness of the local area and the risks, which includes both potential and actual risks.

1.10 The District of Newark and Sherwood



Authorised Activities

- 1.11 The Act gives Licensing Authorities a number of important regulatory functions in relation to gambling. The main functions are to:
 - licence premises for gambling activities;
 - issue provisional statements for premises;
 - consider notices given for the temporary use of premise for gambling;
 - grant permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs and miners welfare institutes;
 - regulate gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises;
 - grant permits to Family Entertainment Centres for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines;
 - grant permits for prize gaming;
 - consider occasional use notices for betting at tracks
 - register small society lotteries

NB

Operator licences, Personal Licences and Remote Gambling and the Natuional Lottery are all dealt with by the Gambling Commission.

Spread betting is regulated by the Financial Services Authority

In carrying out its licensing functions within the framework established by this Statement, the Authority will have particular regard to:

- maintaining a close working relationship with the responsible authorities;
- taking necessary and appropriate steps for the protection of children and other vulnerable persons; and
- the need to treat each application on its own merits taking into account the individual circumstances at each premise.

Relationship with Other Legislation

- 1.12 In complying with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005, whilst the Authority recognises the requirements of the following, this Statement is not intended to duplicate the existing legislation and regulatory orders which incur statutory obligations:
- 1.13 In particular, in making a determination in respect of any application, the Authority will make it decision on the individual merits of each application and will not take into account

irrelevant matters, such as the likelihood of the application receiving planning permission, or building regulation approval.

"Demand" for Gaming Premises

1.14 The Authority will not consider the demand for gaming premises when making decisions about applications for a premises licence under the Act.

Rights of Applicants and Third Parties

- 1.15 This Statement does not override the right of any person to make an application under the Act and have that application considered on its individual merits.
- 1.16 Similarly this Statement does not undermine the right of any third party to make representations on an application or to seek a review of a licence where provision has been made for them to do so.

Data Sharing, Data Security and the Principles of Better Regulation

1.17 The Authority will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling Act 2005 in its exchange of information which includes the provision that the General Data Protection Regulation will not be contravened. The Authority will also have regard to any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission on this matter, as well as any relevant regulations issued by the Secretary of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

Equality

1.18 The Council aims to act positively to reduce inequality, to work against discrimination and to promote and create access to services by everyone, irrespective of their age, disability, race, gender, sexuality, cultural or social background, religion or belief.

2.0 LOCAL RISK ASSESSMENTS

- 2.1 The Gambling Commission's Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice (LCCP) formalise the need for operators to consider local risks. Local risk assessments apply to all non-remote casino, adult gaming centre, bingo, family entertainment centre, betting and remote betting intermediary (trading room only) licences, except non-remote general betting (limited) and betting intermediary licences
- 2.2 Licensees are required to assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In undertaking their risk assessments, they must take into account relevant matters identified in this policy statement.
- 2.3 the local authority would expect operators to take into account the broad principles listed below when completing their local risk assessment.
- 2.3 Licensees must review, and update as necessary, their local risk assessments:
 - a) to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including those identified in a licensing authority's statement of licensing policy;
 - b) when there are significant changes at a licensee's premises that may affect their mitigation of local risks;
 - c) when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and

d in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new premises

2.7 The licensing authority have an expectation that all local risk assessments will take into account the local area profile of the area.

The 3 statutory licensing objectives for gambling include protecting children and other vulnerable persons from harm and exploitation. Licensing policies are not currently required to address Public Health concerns and Public Health is not a responsible authority, as in the case of alcohol, however the Gambling Commission has recognised the benefits of a Public Health whole population approach (February 2018). The Commission has identified specific groups of people who are particularly at risk:

- ethnic groups
- youth
- low IQ
- substance abuse/misuse
- poor mental health.

It is estimated that there are over 370,000 problem gamblers in England. There are no local level estimates available. Gambling

harm includes poor physical and mental ill-health and is associated with substance misuse problems especially alcohol and with smoking. It also contributes to debt problems, relationship breakdown and criminality.

Further information on the Gambling Commissions position on Gambling as a public health issue is available on the Commissions website at the following link.

Gambling related harm as a Public Health issue

There is less evidence available to support gambling SOLPs at a local level. Nationally there is a significant amount of gambling that takes place on the internet which reduces barriers to where people can gamble. Problem gambling is linked with areas of socio-economic deprivation, so identifying areas with potentially higher levels of gambling harm can therefore be informed by the alcohol licensing maps.

3. MAKING REPRESENTATIONS

Who Can Make a Representation?

- 3.1 The Gambling Act allows "responsible authorities" (identified in section 157 of the Act) and "interested parties" to make representations to applications relating to **premises licences and provisional statements.** In the case of reviews, that right is also given to the licensee. With regard to other forms of notification and permit, the right to object is restricted to specified bodies. The following section therefore only relates to representations in respect of **premises licences and provisional statements**.
- 3.2 Premises licences are only necessary for the types of gambling listed below and interested parties may therefore only make representations in respect of:
 - Casino premises
 - Bingo premises
 - Betting premises (including tracks)
 - Adult gaming centres

Licensed family entertainment centres

Interested Parties

- 3.3 Interested parties are defined as persons who in the Authority's opinion:
 - live sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities;
 - have business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities, or
 - represent either of the above.

Policy One

- 3.4 In determining if someone lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the authorised activities or have business interests that are likely to be affected, the Authority will normally take any or all of the following into account which appear relevant to it to ensure that those who are likely to be directly affected by the proposed activities can exercise their right to be heard:
 - the proximity of their home or business to the application premises;
 - the nature of their residency (e.g. private resident, resident in home for the vulnerable etc);
 - the nature of the business making the representation;
 - the nature of the authorised activities to be conducted on the application premises;
 - the size and capacity of the application premises;
 - the likely catchment area for the application premises;
 - the routes likely to be taken to and from the application premises;
 - the character of the area;
 - the density of the built up area; and
 - the topography of the area
 - local area profile
 - mitigating measures contained within the applicants risk assessments

REASON: To ensure that those who are likely to be directly affected by the proposed activities can exercise their right to be heard.

- 3.5 The Authority will interpret the phrase "business interest" widely and not merely confine the phrase to meaning those engaged in trade and commerce. It may therefore, include charities, churches, medical practices, schools and other establishments and institutions.
- 3.6 Similarly a wide interpretation will be given to those categories of persons and organisations that represent residents and businesses. These may include residents and tenants associations, trade unions and other associations, as well as individuals whose role is to represent the interests of one or more residents or businesses such as a councillor, MP or legal representative.
- 3.7 If an existing gambling business makes a representation that it is going to be affected by another gambling business starting up in the area, then without further evidence relating to the licensing objectives supporting the representation, the Authority would not consider this to be a relevant representation because it relates to "demand" or competition.
- 3.8 It is for the Authority to determine on a case by case basis whether or not a person making a representation is an "interested party". The Authority may ask for evidence to identify who is being represented and show that they have given authority for representations to be made on their behalf. In cases which are not clear-cut the benefit of the doubt will usually be exercised in favour of the person making the representation.

Form and Content of Representation

- 3.9 The Act places a duty on the Authority to aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as the Authority thinks the application is in accordance with:
 - this Policy Statement,
 - the Commission's Guidance,
 - local area profile and applicants local risk assessments
 - the Codes of Practice, and
 - where the application is reasonably in accordance with the licensing objectives.
- 3.10 As these are the main criteria against which an application is to be assessed representations which address these issues are more likely to be accepted and given weight.
- 3.11 All representations must be made in writing and must be received by the Authority within the time limits set by the relevant regulations. For a representation to be relevant it should:
 - be positively tied or linked by a causal connection to particular premises; and
 - relate to the licensing objectives, or
 - raise issues under this policy, the Commission's Guidance or Codes of Practice.

3.12 Representations received outside the statutory period for making such representations or which otherwise does not comply with the Regulations will be invalid and will not be taken into consideration when the application is determined. In addition, the Authority expects representations to be made in accordance with Policy Two.

Policy Two

- 3.13 A representation should indicate the following:
 - (i) the name, address and a contact number for the person making the representation;
 - (ii) the capacity in which the representation is made (e.g. interested party, responsible authority, licensee) and if made as a representative should indicate who is being represented;
 - (iii) the name and address of the premises in respect of which the representation is being made;
 - (iv) the licensing objective(s) relevant to the representation;
 - (v) Why it is felt that the application:
 - · is not reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; or
 - is not in accordance with this Policy, the Commission's Guidance or the relevant Codes of Practice; or
 - the local risk assessments are not considered suitable and sufficient; or
 - otherwise should not be granted; or
 - should only be granted subject to certain specified conditions;
 - (vi) details of the evidence supporting the opinion in (v).

REASON: To ensure the representation is made by a responsible authority or interested party and that it is relevant and directly related to the application premises.

- 3.14 A preferred form of representation is available. A copy of the form can be downloaded at www.newark-sherwooddc.gov.uk or requested directly from the service. Whilst representations which are not in the preferred form or which do not fully comply with Policy Two will not automatically be rejected, they may be less likely to comply with the law relating to representations resulting in them ultimately being rejected or given little or no weight.
- 3.15 Ordinarily, where representations are received, the Authority will hold a Hearing, however, a Hearing does not have to be held where the Authority thinks that a representation is frivolous, vexatious, or will certainly not influence the Authority's determination of the

- matter. It is for the Authority to determine whether a representation falls within these categories, however, representations which comply with Policy Two are unlikely to do so.
- 3.16 It is in the interest of those making representations that they include as much detail and evidence as possible at the time the representation is made. The Authority will determine whether a representation should be excluded as frivolous or vexatious based on the normal interpretation of the words. A representation may therefore be excluded if it obviously lacks seriousness or merit, or is designed to be antagonistic. An example may be a representation received form a rival operator which is based solely on the fact that the new premises would compete with their own.

Irrelevant Considerations

- 3.17 Whilst not intended to provide an exhaustive list the following matters cannot be taken into account and representations relating to them are likely to be discounted:
 - need and demand for the relevant premises;
 - issues relating to nuisance;
 - traffic congestion and parking.
 - Likelihood of the premise receiving planning permission or building regulation approval
 - Moral grounds
- 3.18 Any person seeking to operate gambling premises must first have applied for, or obtained, an operating licence from the Gambling Commission. The Commission will therefore have made a judgement as to the applicant's suitability to operate the proposed form of gambling and therefore this issue is not relevant to the subsequent assessment of the premises licence application. The only exception is in relation to track premises licences. In this case an operator's licence is not required and the suitability of the applicant may, in appropriate cases, be taken into consideration.

Reviews

- 3.19 A premises licence may be reviewed by the licensing authority of its own volition or following the receipt of an application for a review from a responsible authority or interested party. Reviews cannot be delegated to an officer of the licensing authority the lowest level of delegation permitted is to a licensing sub-committee (licensing panel).
- 3.20 The Act provides that licensing authorities may initiate a review in relation to a particular class of premises licence or in relation to particular premises. Officers of the Council or of a responsible authority may be involved in the initial investigations of complaints leading to a review, or may try informal mediation or dispute resolution techniques prior to a full scale review being conducted.

- 3.21 If at any time the Authority considers it necessary in their scheme of delegation, they will establish a system that determines who initiates reviews, and that may include a 'filter' system to prevent unwarranted reviews from being conducted.
- 3.22 In relation to a class of premises, the Authority may review the use made of premises and, in particular, the arrangements that premises licence holders have made to comply with licence conditions. In relation to these general reviews, the Authority would most likely be acting as a result of specific concerns or complaints about particular types of premises, which would cause it to want, for example, to look at the default conditions that apply to that category of licence. In relation to particular premises, the Authority may review any matter connected to the use made of the premises if it has reason to suspect that licence conditions are not being observed, or for any other reason (such as a complaint from a third party) which gives it cause to believe that a review may be appropriate.
- 3.23 Representations and review applications will be considered by the Authority in accordance with the relevant legislation, guidance issued by the Commission, this Statement of Principles, Codes of Practice, local area profile and the premises licence holders local risk assessments.

4. LICENSING OBJECTIVES

Preventing Gambling From Being a Source of Crime and Disorder

- 4.1 The Gambling Commission will play a leading role in preventing gambling from becoming a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that aim to prevent inappropriate people from providing facilities for gambling.
- 4.2 The Authority places considerable importance on the prevention of crime and disorder, and will fulfil its duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area. A high standard of control is therefore expected to be exercised over licensed premises. The Authority will not generally be concerned with the suitability of an applicant and where concerns about a person's suitability arises the Authority will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.
- 4.3 The Authority will, when determining applications, consider whether the grant of a premises licence will result in an increase in crime and disorder. In considering licence applications, the Authority will particularly take into account the applicants local risk assessments which should include reference to the following:
 - the design and layout of the premises;
 - the training given to staff in crime prevention measures appropriate to those premises;
 - physical security features installed in the premises. This may include matters such as the position of cash registers or the standard of CCTV that is installed;
 - where premises are subject to age restrictions, the procedures in place to conduct age verification checks;
 - the likelihood of any violence, public order or policing problem if the licence is granted.
- 4.4 Where an application is received in relation to premises in an area noted for particular problems with organised crime, part of this determination will include consultation with the police and other relevant authorities. The Authority may then consider whether specific controls, such as a requirement for the provision of door supervisors, need to be applied in order to prevent those premises being a source of crime. In respect of betting offices the Authority will make door supervision requirement only if there is clear evidence from the history of trading at the premises that the premises cannot be adequately supervised from the counter and that door supervision is both necessary and proportionate.
- As far as disorder is concerned, there are already powers in existing anti-social behaviour and other legislation to deal with measures designed to prevent nuisance, whether it arises as a result of noise from a building or from general disturbance once people have left a building. The Authority does not therefore intend to use the Act to deal with general nuisance issues, for example, parking problems, which can easily be dealt with using alternative powers. The Authority has no jurisdiction under the Act to deal with general nuisance issues.

- 4.6 In accordance with the Guidance, the Authority will only seek to address issues of disorder under the Act if the disorder amounts to activity which is more serious and disruptive than mere nuisance. A disturbance could be serious enough to constitute disorder if police assistance were required to deal with it. Another factor the Authority is likely to take into account is how threatening the behaviour was to those who could see or hear it, whether those people live sufficiently close to be affected or have business interests that might be affected.
- 4.7 The Authority will consult with the police and other relevant authorities when making decisions in this regard and will give due weight to any comments made by the police or other relevant authorities.

Policy Three

4.8 The Authority will have particular regard to the likely impact of licensing on related crime and disorder in the district, particularly when considering the location, impact, operation and management of all proposed licence applications.

REASON: Under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 local authorities must have regard to the likely effect of the exercise of their functions on, and do all they can to prevent, crime and disorder in their area.

Ensuring Gambling is Conducted in a Fair and Open Way

- 4.9 The Gambling Commission does not expect local authorities to become concerned with ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way as this will either be a matter for the management of the gambling business (and therefore relevant to the Operating Licence), or will be in relation to the suitability and actions of an individual (and therefore relevant to the Personal Licence).
- 4.10 Both issues will be addressed by the Commission through the operating and personal licensing regime. This is achieved by ensuring that:
 - operating and personal licences are issued only to those who are suitable to offer gambling facilities or work in the industry;
 - easily understandable information is made available by operators to players about, for example: the rules of the game, the probability of losing or winning, and the terms and conditions on which business is conducted;
 - the rules are fair;
 - advertising is not misleading;
 - the results of events and competitions on which commercial gambling takes place are made public; and
 - machines, equipment and software used to produce the outcome of games meet standards set by the Commission and operate as advertised.

4.11 Because betting track operators do not need an operating licence from the Commission, the Authority may, in certain circumstances attach conditions to a licence to ensure that the betting is conducted in a fair and open way. The Authority may in these circumstances also consider the suitability of the Applicant to hold a track premises licence. Factors which will be taken into account include the applicant's business experience, their financial standing and whether they may be regarded as fit and proper to hold a licence.

Protection of children

The Council expects operators of gambling premises to have in place policies and measures to ensure children and other vulnerable people are protected from being harmed or exploited by gambling. Harm in this context is not limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations, including the risk of child sexual exploitation.

The efficiency of such policies and procedures will be considered on their however, they may include appropriate measures/training for staff merits. school as regards suspected truanting children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing perceived problems.

The Council will pay particular attention to measures proposed by operators to protect children from harm in Adult Gaming Centres and Family Entertainment Centres. Such measures may include, but would not be limited to, the following:

- Proof of age schemes
- CCTV
- Supervision of entrances/machine areas
- Physical separation of areas
- Specific opening hours
- Self-barring schemes
- Notices/signage
- Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truanting school children on the premises and how to recognise signs of potential child sexual exploitation
- Clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from harm
- Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

- 4.12 The access of children and young person's to those gambling premises which are adult only environments will not be permitted.
- 4.13 The Authority will seek to limit the advertising for premises so that gambling products are not aimed at children or advertised in such a way that makes them particularly attractive to children.
- 4.14 The Authority will consult with the Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Children Board and the Nottinghamshire Safeguarding Adults Board on any application that indicates there may be concerns over access for children or vulnerable persons.
- 4.16 The Act provides for a Code of Practice on access to casino premises by children and young persons and the Authority will work closely with the Police to ensure the appropriate enforcement of the law in these types of premises.

Vulnerable Persons

- 4.17 In accordance with the provisions of the Act, the Authority will not seek to prohibit particular groups of adults from gambling in the same way that it seeks to prohibit children. The Act does not define "vulnerable persons" but the Gambling Commission's guidance indicates that they include:
 - People who gamble more than they want to;
 - People who gamble beyond their means;
 - People who may not be able to make an informed or balanced decision about gambling due to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.

The Authority will follow this guidance when considering whether, in relation to particular premises, any special considerations apply in relation to the protection of vulnerable persons.

- 4.18 The Authority encourages Applicants to offer controls that limit access by customers to gambling or further access to alcohol where the customer shows signs of inebriation.
- 4.19 Where the legislation allows, the Authority will look particularly closely at applications that are made for premises close to sensitive areas or developments, for example;
 - Residential areas
 - Schools and other educational establishments
 - Residential hostels for vulnerable adults
 - Premises licensed for alcohol or gambling

5. PREMISES LICENCES

General Principles

In the Act, 'premises' is defined as including any place. Section 152 prevents more than one premises licence applying to any place. However a single building could be subject to more than one premises licence, provided that they are for different parts of the building and different parts of the building can reasonably be regarded as being different premises. This approach has been taken to allow large, multiple unit premises such as a pleasure park, pier, track or shopping mall to obtain discrete premises licences for units within them. The Authority will pay particular attention if there are issues about the sub-division of a single building or plot and will ensure that mandatory conditions relating to access between such premises are observed.

In relation to an application to split existing licensed premises thereby creating multiple premises, the Authority will expect the primary use of each premises to be the main business in accordance with the type of licence held. Any activities other than the primary use will be considered ancillary to the main business.

- 5.2 The procedure for obtaining Premises Licences is set by regulations. Should a licence be granted it will be made subject to mandatory and/or default conditions set by the Secretary of State. The Authority may choose to exclude default conditions if it thinks it appropriate and may also impose other specific conditions which are appropriate to the application where there is a specific evidenced risk.
- 5.3 The Gambling Commission plays a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime and will maintain rigorous licensing procedures that aim to prevent criminals from providing facilities for gambling. With the exception of applicants for track premises anyone applying to the Authority for a premises licence will have to hold an operating licence from the Commission before a licence can be issued. Generally therefore the Authority will not be concerned with the suitability of an applicant. Where concerns arise about a person's suitability, the Authority will bring those concerns to the attention of the Commission.
- The licensing authority will however be concerned with issues such as the impact of the licensed premises in terms of crime and disorder and matters such as the location of the premises and their internal layout in terms of protecting children and vulnerable persons. Such issues are discussed in more detail in the paragraphs below relating to the specific types of gambling premises. See local risk assessments at section 2

Betting Premises and Tracks

- 5.5 Betting premises relates to those premises operating off-course betting. That is other than at a track.
- 5.6 Tracks are sites where races or other sporting events take place. Betting operators may operate self-contained betting premises within track premises although they would normally only open on event days. There may be several licensed premises at any track.
- 5.7 Permitted activities include:

- off-course betting;
- on-course betting for tracks;
- betting by way of betting machines, and;
- gaming machines as stipulated by regulations (see Appendix Two)
- 5.8 Factors for consideration when determining the application will be:
 - location, particularly in relation to vulnerable persons;
 - suitability of the premises;
 - size of premises in relation to the number of betting machines;
 - the ability of staff to monitor the use or abuse of such machines and;
 - the provision for licence holders to ensure appropriate age limits are adhered to.
- 5.9 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.
- 5.10 Mandatory or default conditions may be attached by regulations issued by the Secretary of State. Conditions may be applied by the Authority in support of the licensing objectives if it is felt necessary and appropriate to the application and where there is a specific evidenced risk.

General Matters Relevant to Tracks

- 5.11 In addition to the Southwell Racecourse the Authority has a number of premises that may apply for a premises licence to operate as a 'Track' for the purposes of the Gambling Act.
- 5.12 Tracks may be subject to one or more premises licences provided each licence relates to a specified area of the track. The Authority will especially consider the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) in the determination of premises licence applications for tracks and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not permitted to enter.
- 5.13 Track operators are not required to hold an operator's licence granted by the Gambling Commission unless they are operating gambling activities themselves. Therefore, premises licences for tracks issued by the Authority are likely to contain requirements for premises licence holders relevant to their responsibilities in relation to the proper conduct of betting. The Authority recognises that Track operators will have an important role to play in the regulation of gambling activities expect that they will take proactive action appropriate to that role. For example, in ensuring that betting areas are properly administered and supervised.

- 5.14 The Authority will therefore expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate suitable measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult-only gaming facilities. It is noted that children and young persons will be permitted to enter track areas where facilities for betting are provided on days when dog-racing and/or horse racing takes place, but that they are still prevented from entering areas where gaming machines (other than category D machines) are provided.
- 5.15 Applicants are encouraged to offer their own measures to meet the licensing objectives, however, appropriate measures/licence conditions imposed by the Authority may cover issues such as:
 - proof of age schemes
 - CCTV
 - supervision of entrances / machine areas
 - physical separation of areas
 - location of entrances
 - notices / signage
 - specific opening hours
 - self-barring schemes
 - provision of information leaflets / helpline numbers for
 - organisations such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example measures.

Gaming Machines used on Tracks

5.16 Guidance from the Gambling Commission addresses where such machines may be located on tracks and any special considerations that should apply in relation, for example, to supervision of the machines and preventing children from playing them. The Authority notes the Commission's Guidance that licensing authorities therefore need to consider the location of gaming machines at tracks, and applications for track premises licences will need to demonstrate that, where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use his entitlement to four gaming machines, these machines are located in areas from which children are excluded. Children and young persons are not prohibited from playing category D gaming machines on a track.

Betting Premises in Relation to Tracks

- 5.17 A Track may hold a betting premises licence allowing betting to take place within defined areas. There may also be a number of subsidiary licences authorising other gambling activities to take place including off-course betting. Unlike betting offices (bookmakers), a betting premises licence in respect of a track does not give an automatic entitlement to use gaming machines. Pool betting may also take place on certain types of tracks and the appropriate operating licence to enable this will be required before a premises licence authorising this activity may be determined by the Authority.
- 5.18 In line with the Commission's Guidance, the Authority will expect operators of self-contained units on tracks to seek an ordinary betting premises licence to ensure that there is clarity

between the respective responsibilities of the track operator and the off-course betting operator running a self-contained unit on the premises.

Betting Machines on Tracks

- 5.19 The Authority will take into account the size of the premises and the ability of staff to monitor the use of these machines by children and young persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an operator wants to offer. It will also take note of the Gambling Commission's suggestion that licensing authorities will want to consider restricting the number and location of such machines in respect of applications for Track Betting Premises Licences.
- 5.20 When considering whether to exercise its power to restrict the number of betting machines at a track, the Council will consider the circumstances of each individual application and, among other things will consider the potential space for the number of machines requested, the ability of track staff to supervise the machines, especially if they are scattered around the site, and the ability of the track operator to prevent children and young persons and vulnerable people betting on the machines.

Condition on Rules Being Displayed on Tracks

5.21 The Gambling Commission has advised in its Guidance for local authorities that "...licensing authorities should attach a condition to track premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that they are made available to the public. For example, the rules could be printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office." The Authority encourages applicants to demonstrate in their application and in the conduct of their activity that they will comply with this.

Applications and Plans for Tracks

5.22 Regulations set out specific requirements for applications for premises licences and, in accordance with the Gambling Commission's suggestion that, to ensure the Authority gains a proper understanding of what it is being asked to licence, the premises licence application pack for a track includes the information that is required which includes detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area(s) that will be used for temporary "on-course" betting facilities (often known as the "betting ring") and in the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses, fixed and mobile pool betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as any other proposed gambling facilities. Plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the track betting premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate application for a different type of premises licence.

The Council appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of track. Applicants should provide sufficient information that the council can be satisfied that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take place. For racecourses in particular, any betting areas subject to the "five times rule" (commonly known

as betting rings) must be indicated on the plan. It would be helpful to the Authority and the Responsible Authorities if the plans were marked using a colour-coded scheme or, at a minimum, by use of a key to denote the use of those areas shown.

Adult Gaming Centres (AGC's)

- 5.23 These premises must be operated by the holder of a gaming machine general operating licence from the Gambling Commission as well as a premises licence from the Authority.
- 5.24 Permitted activities include the provision of gaming machines as stipulated by regulations (see Appendix two)
- 5.25 Factors for consideration when determining the application for an AGC will include:
 - the location; and
 - the ability of operators to minimise illegal access by under 18's to the premises.
 - Premises Local risk assessment
- 5.26 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.
- 5.27 Conditions may be applied by the Authority in support of the licensing objectives, if it is felt necessary. Mandatory or default conditions may be attached by regulations issued by the Secretary of State. No one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an AGC.

Club Gaming Permits and Club Machine Permits

- 5.28 Club gaming permits authorise qualifying clubs to provide gaming machines as well as equal chance gaming and games of chance as prescribed in regulations.
- 5.29 Club machine permits allow the provision of higher category gaming machines.
- 5.30 Commercial clubs may in some circumstances operate with club machine permits but not club gaming permits.
- 5.31 The Authority may only refuse an application on the following grounds:
 - (a) the applicant does not fulfill the requirements for a members' or commercial club or miners' welfare institute and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has applied;
 - (b) the applicant's premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons;
 - (c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities;
 - (d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or

- (e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police;
- and in the case of (a) or (b) must refuse the permit.
- 5.32 The authority may grant or refuse a permit, but it may not attach conditions to a permit.

Alcohol Licensed Premises

- 5.33 The Act provides an automatic entitlement to provide two gaming machines of category C or D. The premises licence holder must notify the Authority of his or her intention and pay the prescribed fee. Although the Authority has no discretion to refuse the notification, the authorisation may be removed if gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 282 of the Act.
- 5.34 The Authority may also issue "licensed premises gaming machine permits" to premises in this category on application for any additional number of category C and/or D machines. This would generally replace any automatic entitlement under section 282 of the Act.
- 5.35 The Authority must have regard to the licensing objectives and the Gambling Commission Guidance when granting these permits. Factors for consideration will include:
 - location, particularly in relation to vulnerable persons;
 - suitability of the premises, size of premises in relation to the number of betting machines;
 - the ability of staff to monitor the use or abuse of such machines; and
 - the provision for licence holders to ensure appropriate age limits are adhered to.
- 5.36 This is not an exhaustive list and each application will be judged on its merits. Any effective measures to support the licensing objectives will be taken into account.
- 5.37 It is a condition of the automatic entitlement to make available two gaming machines (of category C or D) that any relevant provision of a code of practice under section 24 about the location and operation of a gaming machine is complied with. The authority will take account of these provisions. The relevant codes of practice are available on the Gambling Commission's website. www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk

Family Entertainment Centres

- 5.38 There are two classes of Family Entertainment Centres (FEC's) dependent upon the type of gaming machines provided on the premises:
 - FEC's with category C and D machines require a Premises Licence.
 - Unlicensed FEC's provide only category D machines and are regulated through FEC gaming machine permits. An application for a permit may only be granted if the

Authority is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, and if the Police have been consulted on the application. Applicants will need to demonstrate:

- a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FEC's;
- that the applicant has no relevant convictions (i.e. those set out in Schedule 7 of the Act); and
- that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes.
- 5.39 In considering applications for permits, the Authority will give weight to child protection issues and will also consider the suitability of the location, in particular the:
 - proximity of premises to schools and vulnerable adult centres (e.g. a centre for gambling addicts);
 - proximity to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children;
 - town centre or edge of town centre locations.
- 5.40 It should be noted that a permit cannot be issued in respect of a vessel or a vehicle.
- 5.41 An applicant must be 18 years of age or over.

Prize Gaming Permits

- 5.42 These permits cover gaming where the nature and size of the prize is not determined by the number of people playing or the amount paid for or raised by the gaming the prize is determined by the operator before play commences.
- 5.43 Consideration will be given to the following factors:
 - proximity of premises to schools and vulnerable adult centres (e.g. a centre for gambling addicts);
 - proximity to residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families with children;
 - town centre or edge of town centre locations.
- 5.44 It should be noted that a permit cannot be issued in respect of a vessel or a vehicle.
- 5.45 The applicant must be 18 years of age or over. Relevant convictions will be taken into account, especially with respect to child protection issues.

Travelling Fairs

5.46 Provided a travelling fair allows only category D gaming machines to be made available, and the facilities for gambling (whether by way of gaming machine or otherwise) amount together to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair, then no application for a licence is required under the Act. The Authority will want to satisfy itself from time to time that gambling at a travelling fair is within the definition of section 286 of the Act. A guide for those wishing to operate gambling machines at travelling fairs is available on the Commission website.

Small Society Lotteries

- 5.47 Small society lotteries are distinguished from large society lotteries by the amount of the proceeds that they generate. A lottery is small if the total value of tickets put on sale in a single lottery is £20,000 or less and the aggregate value of the tickets put on sale in a calendar year is £250,000 or less. Other lotteries are dealt with by the Gambling Commission.
- 5.48 Small society lotteries are required to be registered with the local authority in the area where their principal office is located.

Temporary Use Notices

5.49 Premises which are not licensed for gambling may be used by a licensed operator for an aggregate period of 21 days in 12 months for prescribed types of gambling. In order to do so, the operator must serve a temporary use notice (or notices) on the Authority, the Commission and the Police. These are the only bodies who may object to such a notice. There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices. It is noted that it falls to the Authority to decide what constitutes a "set of premises" where Temporary Use Notices are received relating to the same building/site (see Gambling Commission's Guidance to Licensing Authorities).

Occasional Use Notices

5.50 Betting on unlicensed tracks may be authorised for up to 8 days in a calendar year by the service of occasional use notices by the occupier of the track or the person responsible for the administration of the event. The Authority has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from ensuring that the statutory limit of eight days in a calendar year is not exceeded. The Authority will need to consider whether a Notice in respect of premises can be dealt with under the definition of a "Track". It will also need to consider whether the Applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice, however, there is no provision for objections to be made to this type of activity or for it to be prohibited.

Casinos

5.51 The Authority has passed a "no Casino resolution" under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005. This means that it has taken the decision not to issue any casino premises licences in the district of Newark and Sherwood. This resolution shall take effect from XXXX 2016 and

shall remain in force for a period of three years from that date unless a resolution is passed before that date revoking the "no Casino resolution".

Bingo

- 5.52 The holder of a bingo operating licence can apply for a bingo premises licence to provide any type of bingo game, including cash and prize bingo. Commercial bingo halls will also require a bingo premises licence from the Authority.
- 5.53 If the only type of bingo to be provided is prize bingo then this may be authorised by way of permit.
- 5.54 If children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo it is important that that they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines. Where category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are admitted the Authority will expect to see that:
 - all such machines are located in an area of the premises separate from the remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a designated entrance;
 - only adults (over 18s) are admitted to the area where the machines are located;
 - access to the area where the machines are located is supervised;
 - the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; and
 - at the entrance to, and inside any such an area, there are prominently displayed notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18.
- The Gambling Commission has issued guidance about the need for licensing authorities to 5.55 take into account the suitability and layout of bingo premises. Therefore, plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the bingo premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate application for a different type of premises licence. It would be helpful to the Authority and the Responsible Authorities if the plans were marked using a colour-coded scheme or at a minimum by use of a key to denote the use of those areas shown. The Gambling Commission has issued guidance on the division of a building into more than one premises which can be found at www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk.
- 5.56 A limited number of gaming machines may also be made available at bingo licensed premises.
- 5.57 Bingo is a class of equal chance gaming and is permitted in alcohol licensed premises and in clubs, provided it remains below a certain threshold as directed by the law, otherwise it will require a bingo operating licence which will have to be obtained from the Gambling Commission.

5.58 Developers may wish to apply to the Authority for a provisional statement before entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a development is worth taking forward in the light of a need to obtain a premises licence. There is no need to hold an operating licence in order to apply for a provisional statement.

6. INSPECTION AND ENFORCEMENT

General Statement

- 6.1 The authority will have regard to its General / Corporate Enforcement Policy, the relevant provisions of the Act, any relevant guidance and / or codes of practice when considering taking enforcement action.
- 6.2 It is the intention of the authority to establish and maintain enforcement protocols with other enforcement agencies.

Inspections

- 6.3 The authority will inspect gambling premises and facilities for compliance with the Act and any licence conditions through the application of a risk based inspection programme.
- 6.4 The inspection programme will, in principle, operate a light touch in respect of low-risk premises whilst applying greater attention to those premises which are considered to present a higher risk.
- 6.5 In addition to programmed inspections, the licensing authority will also investigate any evidence based complaints that it receives.

Policy Four

- 6.6 The authority will adopt a risk based assessment approach for determining the frequency of compliance inspections. The risk rating will be based broadly on the following factors:
 - location of the premises and their impact on the surrounding area;
 - enforcement history of the premises;
 - nature of the licensed or permitted operation;
 - potential to have an adverse affect on the licensing objectives; and
 - management record.
 - Local risk assessment

REASON: To provide a targeted and cost efficient enforcement service which will encourage and improve operating practice, promote the licensing objectives, and drive out poor practices; whilst at the same time meet accepted best practice principles of compliance inspection.

Enforcement

6.7 In general, the Gambling Commission will take the lead on the investigation and where appropriate, the prosecution of illegal gambling. There may be occasions in which the

- licensing authority is better placed to take the lead, particularly where there is illegal activity on a smaller scale confined to the authority's area.
- 6.8 Where a licensed premise is situated in more than one administrative area then this authority will liaise with the other authority to determine the most appropriate course of action and who will lead any investigation or prosecution.
- 6.9 Part 15 of the Act gives "authorised persons" power of investigation and section 346 enables licensing authorities to institute criminal proceedings in respect of offences described in that section. In exercising these functions the Authority will have regard to the relevant provisions of the Gambling Act 2005, national guidance, relevant codes of practice, and the enforcement policy of the Council.

The Authority will endeavour to follow the principles of better regulation. The principles require that enforcement should be:

The principles require that enforcement should be:

- **Proportionate:** regulators should only intervene when necessary: Remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and costs identified and minimised;
- Accountable: regulators must be able to justify decisions, and be subject to public scrutiny;
- **Consistent:** rules and standards must be joined up and implemented fairly;
- **Transparent:** regulators should be open, and keep regulations simple and user friendly; and
- Targeted: regulation should be focused on the problem, and minimise side effects
- 6.10 The licensing authority will work closely with the Gambling Commission and exchange information on suspected illegal gambling and any proposed action that the authority considers necessary.
- 6.11 The main enforcement and compliance role for the licensing authority in terms of the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises Licences and other permissions which it authorises. The Gambling Commission will be the enforcement body for Operator and Personal Licences. It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by the licensing authority but will be notified to the Gambling Commission.
- 6.12 The authority may institute proceedings in respect of a number of offences as identified in section 346 of the Act.
- 6.13 The authority will avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes.

Glossary of Terms

Many of the terms used in this statement of licensing policy are defined in the appropriate section of the Act. Section 353 identifies various terminologies and directs the reader to the relevant section of the Act, where appropriate, for a full and complete meaning of the term.

In the interests of clarity the following terms, which are used in this statement of licensing policy, are defined below.

Terminology	Definition		
"the Act"	The Gambling Act 2005 (c19)		
"Authority"	This refers to the "licensing authority" as defined by section 2 of the Act		
"authorised person"	An officer of a licensing authority, and an officer of an authority other than a licensing authority, both of whom have been authorised for a purpose relating to premises in that authority's area		
"authorised local authority officer"	An officer of a licensing authority who is an authorised person for a purpose relating to premises in that authority's area		
"gambling commission"	An organisation established under section 20 of the Act that is responsible for regulating gambling in Great Britain		
"guidance"	"Guidance to licensing authorities", , issued by the gambling commission under section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005		
"interested parties"	Defined at paragraph 2.3 of this statement of licensing principles		
"mandatory condition"	A condition that must be placed on a licence by virtue of regulations		
"regulations"	Refers to regulations made under the Gambling Act 2005		
"responsible authorities"	Public bodies that must be notified of applications for premises licences and they also have the right to make representations in relation to those applications. They are listed in full in section 157 of the Act.		

Appendix One

List of Bodies and Organisations Consulted

- 1. District Councillors
- 2. Directors and relevant Business Managers
- 3. Betting Shops/Bookmakers
- 4. Bingo Halls
- 5. Amusement Arcades
- 6. Racing Grounds
- 7. Parish & Town Councils
- 8. Town Centre Partnerships
- 9. Pub Watch
- 10. Nottinghamshire Police
- 11. Nottinghamshire Fire & Rescue
- 12. Licensing Solicitors
- 13. Gamblers Anonymous
- 14. NCC Children's Directorate
- 15. Citizens' Advice Bureau
- 16. British Casino Association
- 17. Casino Operators Association of the U.K.
- 18. British Amusement Catering Trades Association
- 19. The Bingo Association
- 20. British Beer & Pub Association Midlands
- 21. Association of British Bookmakers
- 22. Gambling Commission
- 23. H.M. Customs & Excise
- 24. Newark & Sherwood Primary Care Trust
- 25. Members of Parliament

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 14 JUNE 2018

UPDATE ON PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT MATTERS

1.0 **Purpose of Report**

To inform the Committee of the activity and performance of the Licensing Team and to 1.1 provide Members with details of current ongoing enforcement issues.

2.0 **Background**

- 2.1 New applicants for a Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Drivers or Private Ambulance Drivers Licences have to undergo various checks. These include a: Disclosure and Barring check; DVLA check; two references are required; Group II medical; and knowledge & ability tests.
- 2.2 This report covers the period from 1 January to 31 March 2018 inclusive and sets out the range and number of licence applications during this period. It also highlights any activity required as a result of the applications.

Application Type	New Applications Received	Renewal of Applications Received	Number Issued	Comments
Hackney Carriage/ Private Hire Driver	3	14	17	
Ambulance Drivers	5	31	36	
Hackney Carriage Vehicles	3	21	24	
Private Hire Vehicles	2	34	36	

2.3 **Street Collections**

The table below sets out the numbers of collections undertaken within the reporting period of 1 January to 31 March 2018 and the charities supported. The organisations undertaking the collections are required to complete a return that sets out the 80% of the collection that is returned to the charity.

Charity	Location	Date	Total Amount	% Returned to
			Collected	Charity
Newark Round Table	Newark	16.12.17	£680.60	100%
Cancer Research UK	Newark	03.02.18	£404.00	100%
Marie Curie Cancer	Newark	03.03.18	£288.48	94%

2.4 **House to House Collections**

The table below sets out the numbers of collections undertaken within the reporting period of 1 January to 31 March 2018 and the charities supported. The organisations undertaking the collections are required to complete a return that sets out the 80 % of the collection that is returned to the charity.

Charity	Date	Total Amount	% Returned
		Collected	to Charity
Be Child Cancer Aware	January 2018	£54.00	70%
Child and Teenage Cancer and Leukaemia Foundation	January 2018	£57.00	100%
	•	Adenda P	ane 49

Tree of Hope Charity	12.01.18	£79.80	85%
North of England Children's Cancer Research	January 2018	£118.55	80%
Coping with Cancer North East	January 2018	£155.31	82%
Coping with Cancer North East	February 2018	£144.24	80%
North of England Children's Cancer Research	February 2018	£82.83	82%
Cancer Research and Genetics UK	20.02.17	£305	75%
	to 19.02.18	1303	73/0
Coping with Cancer North East	March 2018	£128.87	83%
North of England Children's Cancer Research	March 2018	£97.16	82%
Leukaemia & Myeloma Research UK	28.03.18	£367	32%
	to 29.03.18	1307	32/0

2.5 <u>Enforcement Issues</u>

<u>Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Ongoing Enforcement Activity between 1 January to 31 March 2018</u>

Location	Activity	Date Case Opened	Action Taken So Far
North Gate Taxi Rank Newark	Taxi Inspections	09.01.18	All in order
Newark to Collingham	Overcharge complaint. Was charged £27.50 when fare is usually £13	23.01.18	LEO contacted PH firm to investigate as was not a NSDC vehicle.
Middle Gate, Newark	Taxi Inspection HC X1	31.01.18	All in order
Middle Gate, Newark	Taxi Inspection HC X 3	07.02.18	All in order
North Gate Taxi Rank Newark	Taxi Inspections HC x 1	12.02.18	All in order
Middle Gate, Newark	Taxi Inspection HC X 1	19.02.18	All in order
North Gate Taxi Rank Newark	Taxi Inspection HC x1	26.02.18	All in order
North Gate Taxi Rank Newark	Taxi Inspection HC X 1	27.02.18	All in order
Middle Gate, Newark	Taxi Inspection HC X 1	27.02.18	All in order
Lincoln Street/North Gate Taxi ranks	Complaints of drivers being parked illegally on double yellow lines so they can be viewed from the train station. Reports of escalating tensions between the two ranks.	08.03.18 and 23.03.18	LEO has made visits to the rank and given advice to drivers Parking Enforcement Officers have been advised of the situation.
Newark to North Muskham	Overcharging complaint.	21.03.18	Complainant says that driver took her the long way and charged £12.45 rather than under £10. Driver claims that he went the shortest route possible with the roadworks in town. LEO spoke to the driver and NFA taken.

3.0 **RECOMMENDATION**

That the Committee consider the contents of the report and identifies any issues it wishes to examine further.

For further information please contact Nicola Kellas on extension 5894

Karen White Director – Safety

Agenda Item 9

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Agenda Item 10

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted